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THE FIRST FOUR FLORIDA MISSIONS

OF THE WISCONQIN EVANGLLTGAL LUTHERAN SYNOD

For many years the Wisconsin Evangelical Lutheran Synod stayed pretty
much to home as farzaskstafting new missions in the United States., It mostly
consentrated its‘home‘missibn-work in the Midwest, Then in the ten year

span frqm 1954 to 1964 things happened which turned the Wisconsin Syned

into a much greater missionary-minded church body, One of these happenings

was the establishment of the first four Wisconsin Synod missions in Florida,
I. Beglnnings
In the winter of 1954, the Michigan District Mission Board took a
serlous look at opening missions in Florida., The Mission Board had been

aaked Ej some of our Wiscensin Syncd members who regularly vacationed in

Florida to investigate the feasibility of doing work in the Sunshine State,

A very hard-yorking man in this area was Mr. Louls Ott, Some members of the
Mission Board travelled to Florida's Suncoast and came back very enthusiastic
about the prospects,

The Michlgan District was up against a problem, Never before had a
district of.;he Wisconsin Synod gone so far from home base in explering the
possibllities of startiﬁg missions, At the time no district had the right
to begin a mission cutside the district boundaries, The rule in the Syned
was that a district could only go into the next nelghboring state and work
there before going on to another state,

Yet the mission field was ripe in Florida, Besides the great number
of people whe wintered in Florida there were, and still are, many older
Americans who were making their homes in that southern state for health
reasons. In additlon to these facts, many families were moving to Florids

because of jobs, During the 1956's companies such as General Flectric,
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‘ﬁé'ééhiifé;faﬁd‘B;dﬁéiser set ﬁp'plants in and around the St.‘Pétersburg areé.
| The poﬁulatien explosion was in evidence in pratically all areas of Florida,
‘A typical example was the city of Tampa, In 195@ Tampa had a populatien
Iof 125,600, 1In 1966 it reached nearly the 3@6,%@@ mark.1
The.MissioA Board of the Michigan District felt that the Lerd was calling

for them to bring the Gospel to those in Flerida, Pastor william Stelh was
extended a call to begin work in "Florida in genegal and St, Petersburg in
particular.” In September éf 1954 Paster Steilh And;his’family arrived in the
St. Petersburg area, 2 |

| St. Petersburg was a lérge city, The first task befere Pastor Steih
was to;choseian area in which our first Florida Wisconsin Syncd congregation
would 10cate; This was net exactly a simple matter for the Flerida misslon-
arles,: The place which was chosen had to be one where the congregation
could grcw. 5The Bay Pines congregation, for instance, looked fér more than
a year. before finding a good location,

In the meantime, the first four Florida missiens worshipped in

tempor§ry facilities, Faith Lutheran in St, Petersburg held services in a
rentedlschoq} cafetorium, Mount Calvary of Tampa started out in a trailer
court's recréation hall, It was a quiet place, but also out of sight and
not very well knewn, Peace Lutheran in Bradenton also rented a recreatien
hall in a trailer court, Fortunately, its location was more satisfactory,
However, ﬁhere was soon a problem .of overcrowding, especially during the

tourist season, Bay Pines began worshipping in a beautiful chapel, This

was only on a temporary basls, This congregation also experienced crowded

1 Willlam Steih, “Mission Activity in Sunny Florida," The Northwestern
Lutheran, February 11, 1962, p.37.

William Steih, "Our Florida Missien," The Northwestern Lutheran,
January 22, 1956, p. 250
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: conditibns;'“Pasféf Steih wrote in 1959 abeut anether problen connected with

worshipping in a temporary facllity:s #Mt. Calvary in Tampa and Bay Pines in
St, Petersburg are unable to condugt any evening services, as for example
during the Lenten season,” 3

- Property and chapels weré a nmust, Luthefanism was comparatively new
in Florida iq the 1950°'s and early 196@°'s, A chapel helped to identify a
congregationq In addition, worship services and Sunﬁay School could be held

~on a rqgul&r basis. It was important for the Wiscensin Syned to erect

MH:~'chapels, for ether church bodies were coning into the same areas, acquiring

prcperty, nd building chapels, When a chapel was bullt, this let the people
in the,ggmmuqity know that the congregation was there tdﬂstay.

O§ éourse; moﬁey was needed to pay for the rentals of the temporary
ﬂ* vfaéiiigies, the saléries of the missionaries, and ‘the constructien of the
chapels., Thqn thefe were also the preperties and parsonages, Individuals
and congregagions leaned and gave money to get the four missloens started,
Two 1ajmenlié pariicular used thelr money as down paymeﬁté onvproperty for
Falth Luthérén. Alse helping eui in purchasiné land and Buildings were
congregation; of the Michigen District, who had a speciai ééiiection.
"T'o Bring the Sunshine of the Gospel to the Sunshine City.?_ Paster Daniel
M. Gieschen writes, "About $15,000 was raised; to my knowledge, never befere
had district congregatiens voluntarily raised that much for ene home misslon
venture,”

Other Hiscensin Synbd congregatlons also contributed through their
gifts to missiens and thelr loans te the Church Extension Fund and the

Parsonage-Teacherage Fund, This proved successful in the case of Faith

3 William Stelh, "Florida-Retrospect and Prospect,"” The Northwestern
Lutheran, June 21, 1959, p. 200,

Daniel M, Gieschen, 25th Annlversary Booklet of Faith Evangelical
Lutheran Church, St, Petersburg, Florida, 1955-198@, introduction,
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Lhther&n; féf';ﬁié very short time the congregatlon became self-supporting,
Money was seon flowinc back into the Synoﬁical treasury 1nstaad of out of the
mission treasury.

One big problem that faced the first four misslonaries was the lack

of “soul stewardship,” In a letter to the editor of The Northﬁestern,Lutheran,
Pastor William Steih wrotes |
Ve havé a definite problem here in Florida with members from our
northern congregations moving into our area without our knowing
they are here,
¢s+I would like to ask all pastors and congregations to exercise
their “soul stewaydship” more carefully, A letter er caxrd to the
local missionary informing him that a member or members are coming
into our grea would be the help I sheuld like to request, |5
The missionaries were also concerned about those people who were forced to
leave the Wisconsin Synod because we had had no church in Flerida,

The problem was not complétely the fault ef the pastors up north, In
some cases, when former Wisconsin Synod members were contacted, they told
the pastor that they didn't want to drive the 1@ or 12 miles to church, In
any case, the cooperation on the part of those pastors who did send the
names of Wisconsin Synod members planning to live in Florida was much
appreciated,

II. Growth

By the grace of God, the first four missions of the Wisconsin
Evangelical Lutheran Synod grew. By 1959 our Synod had four full-time
workers in the Loxrd®s vineyard in the Sunshine State, Ali four missions
were blessed by God to have permanent worship facilities by the year 1962,
What was most important, Wisconsin Synod transplants and Floridian natives

were hearing the good news of Jesus Christ our Savior,

Faith Evangelical Lutheran Church, St, Petersburg, was the first

5 William Steih, "In the Interest of our Florida Missions,” The
Northwestern Lutheran, September 30, 1956, p, 3173,
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Hisconsin‘Synod’mission in Florida, A mission group of 12 members was

!
organized in St, Petersburg on October 18, 1954, Two months later, Falth
Bvangelical Lutheran congregation wag organized and a constitution wa.s

adopted, 79 people were in attendance at the first public service, which

- was conducted January 9, 1955, at Mount Vernon Elementary School cafetoriunm,

‘Faith Lutheran needed a suitable site on which to build,R.Mrs. Steih
often helped her husband in studying various areas of St, Petersburg for a
good locatiqn for a church.  She related how, after it‘fained,‘they would go
and check téisee where the high ground was. This is veryAimportgnt in Florida,
where.}ain comes down in buckets-full and often the drainage pipes can't ..
handle the vast amount of water., In February of 1955, three-fourths of an
acre of land and a home were purchased, The property lies almost exactly in
the center of the city of St, Petersburg, At the time there were no otﬁer
churches nearby, |

In March of 1955 ground waslbroken for a small chapel, As the chapel
was being built by the contractors, the hands of the members were also “busy,
One member made and donated all tﬁe chapel furniture, Other members made
curtains and donated hymnals., Then on July 24, 1955, Faith Lutheran
dedicated its new chapel, Only ;bout 51X months after it had started
conducting services, Falth Lutheran had a chapel of its'pwn.

Pastor Steih was excited about the fact that Faith Lutheran now had its
own property and chapel, He wrote,

Now that we have our own property and have our own chapel in

which to conduct the Lord's business, we can settle down to the

work in hand. Florida in general and St, Petersburg in particular,

which up to this time knew nothing about the Wisconsin Synod, has

accepted us as an organization which has intentions of being

permanently "in business" here, The results are becoming quite
gratifying, 6

6 William Steih, "Qur Florida Mission," (cmntinued), The Northwestern

Lutheran, February 5, 1956, p, 41,
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Z;l(;ifThc Wigconsin Evange1ica1 Lutheran Synod was now'committcd to Flerida,
| Two years later a two story addition was added at the rear of the‘chapel,
This provided much needed space for Sunday School and meeticgs, ard also
provided more reom for Sunday worship services, This first Wisconsin
Synod mission continued to grow stronger both numerically and financially
so that in July of 1958, three years after the dedication of the chapel,
Faith Lutheran went self-supperting, ’ B _
' By 1961 the ccngregaticn found expansicn plans gradually being forced
on it, both for its Sunday School department as well as for a church
building, to accomodate attendance. This was seen and fedt especially in
the winter,scason when northern visitors (snow-birds) were in attendance.?
From Falth Lutheran two daughter congregations emerged: Mount Calvary
of .Tampa and Bay Pines of Seminole (then largo), Pastor James L, Vogt
writes, "A very interesting feature about the grovth in‘humber of ﬁissions

is the fact that in practically every case the nexw missions were begun by

f o the pastor, organist, and interested laymen of the established congregations.“a

; éjg, Exploratory work was begun in the Tampa area by Pastor Steih in 1955, Soon
o a group of people in Tampa requested that the Wisconsin Synod start a mission

in their eity, On December 18, 1955, Pastor Steih conducted Tampa's first

service at the Sulphur Springs Recreation Hall, g@ peeple attended the
service, The recreaticn hall was hard to find anc the small Tampa group
had some rough géing for awhile, '

In 1956 Pastor James L, Vogt was called to serve the group in Tampa,
In November he took charge of this field, 1In February of 1957 he added
Bradenton to his field of labor-seme 68 miles to the south, In June of

1958 Pastor Vogt moved to Bradenton since it was obvious that this field

7

A letter from Pastor Vogt, March 17, 198,

"Direct from the Districts," The Northwestern Lutheran, Jan, 15, 1961, p,24
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»f"demandéd é'full;time‘pﬁster, However, he contiuued to care for the Tampa
group until Pastor Howard Kalser took ever as vacancy pastor.

| Mount Lalvary Evangelieal Lutheran Church HAS organized am its
constitution adopted on July 1@, 1957, By 1959 the cengregation was
worshipping in a Civie Club building in another section of the city from
| where it had previously baenl Unfortunately, they were only able to make
use of the‘building for a few short months, In Tampa an organizatien could
not even rent a public school building unless it assured the officials that
it intended to purchase property and put up a chapel or suitable building
within a glven peried cf tine,

In 1959 Edward C, Renz was installed as pastor of Mount Calvary Evan-:
gelical Lutheran Church, During the next year he and his wife were
protected by God during two serious flood conditions in north Tampa.9

With the arrival of a resident rastor, a home had to be built
'acquirgd. Five acres of land in the northwest area of Tampa were purchased
on June 1, 196@ for $18,008. The mission was authorized to proceed with
the erection.of a parsonage on this property. December 4, 1960, was a happy
day for Mount Calvary congregation, for on that day they dedicated their
new parsonage.

Mount Calv&ry observed the l&ying of the cornerstone of its new chapel
on February 11, 1962, Pastor G, Press served as guest speaker., The congre-
gation dedicated the chapel on April 29 of the same year,

Peace Evangélical Lutheran Church. in Bradenton, like Mount Calvary in
Tampa, started out in a recreaiien hall of a trailer court, ﬂowever,.they
did not experience rough times as bad as Tampa, 1@5 pecple attended the

first public, worship service, held at Pic-Town Estates Recreation Hall on

J "Direct from the Districts," The Northwestern Lutheran, September 11,
1960, pg., 361.
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Pebruary 10,1957,

Because it was‘apparent from the very beginning that‘there was a need

“for having a‘meeting place of its own and also adequate facilities for

serving the greangﬁﬁber of "winter guests;" thg dongregation of Peace
Lutheran, un&ar thé.supérbiéion of the Michigan District Mission Board,
immediately began fhé séarnﬁ for a suitable plece of property,io On
October 7,;1§5§; fife acreslef propexrty were purchdsed‘byva privaté
individual for the congregation, o |

Dﬁring the year 1960, Peace Lutheran‘watghed the cdhéfructioﬁ of their
new-chﬁréh bﬁildihg,”whiqh was Floridian in design and able'tb seat about
260 peqple. ,With‘Lcheranism being comparatively new to Florida, it was
felt tﬁa& Réfbfmation Sunday would be a most appropriate time for dedicating
the new chqrghito thevworship and service of the Triune God, On October 30,
1960, %he new church of Peace Lutheran was dedicated by its pastor, the Rev,
James vdgt. A nursery-SuhdayhSchoolaoffice addition was dedicated in February
of 1964, | ,

The last of the first‘four Florida missions to get started was Bay Pines
Evangelicai Lﬁtheran Church éf Seminole, Like Mount Calvary of Tampa, Bay
Pines was a Aaughter congregation of Falth Lutheran, Exﬁlor&tory work was
begun in the Bay Pines area in 1958 by Pastor Steih, since a number of families
holding membership in Faith were interested in starting a new mission there,11

Undexr tbe direction of the Michigan District Mission Board, the mission
was started in August of 1958, The first service was conducted on August 3

at the Beach Memorial Funeral Chapel, Pastor Steih conducted services in the

James L, Vogt, "Dedication - Peace Lutheran Church, Bradenton, Florida,"
The Northwestern Lutheran, March 26, 1961, page 103,

1 Jullan Anderson, author, 25th Anniversary Booklet of Falth Evangelical
Lutheran Church, 3t. Petersburg, Florida, 1955-1980, p, 11,
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funeral'homéifor tké mohﬁhs; until Pastor waard’K31ser w&s installed as

: the fixst résidential'pastort He bggan his work in October, and in January
of the foilowing year.thg congregation was organized wlth nihe voting charter
members, The nucleus of Bay Pines Lutheran was 10 or 12 people from Faith
Luthersn who lived in the area, The church took the name Bay Plnes because
it was in thg general area of Bay Pines_Veteran’s Hospltal, a welléknown
place in the Tampa Bay area.

The funéral chapel onlj served as a‘temporary worship facility. '
Circumstances made it apparent thét Bay Pines congregation could not worship
therq for very long, First bf all, they were’unable to conduct any evening
services, such as during the Lenten season, Secondly, it was impossible
to hol& two gervices, even though the attendance was nearing the 80-seatling
capacity of the chapel,

Bay Pines needed a church of their own, and they needed land on which
to build, At the time, finding land was easy, but paying for it was the
hard parf. Becéuse of the building boom in Florida, land was getting high
in price, After more than a year of inquiiing and searching for a suitable
site; @hree ;nd a half acres of land were purchased from a developer and
bulldeé. Thé land was an open field of grass and snakes, It didn't look
like mﬁch, but the developer foresaw a residential area growing up and a
large shopping mall across from the property. Under the direction of God
the area became the growing city of Seminole, with Bay Pines Evangellcal
Lutheran Church in the very heart of the city.lz

The parsonage was dedicated in July 31, 1960, Potential problems in

bullding the church were eliminated by a good contractor, When the blue-

prints for the church showed that it went over the boundary line, the

12 An interview with Pastor Howard Kaiser, March 19, 1980,
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contractor together with Pastor Kaiser decided to flop the church over, It

' ‘wbrked out fine, The church was dedicated to the glory of God on February 26,

1
1

1961, .
The Soﬁtheastern states are crowded with Baptist churches, At the time
when the .Wisconsin Synod began exploring Florida for possible mission
opportunities, Lutheran churches were few, This was the reason why many
people would visit our missions, thinking that one Lutheran church wasn't
any differen£zthan ‘any other Luthexran church, ‘Pastor‘Kaiser had‘quite a
few people walk out angrily from church services because they were not
allowed to commune in his Wisconsin Synod church,
Lodges were, and still are, a big problem in Florida. Pe§ple couldn't
see anything;wrong with them, Mrs. Kalser would count the number of men
in chuych onISunday who wore lodge pins on their suit cocat lapels, Many
times there were more men who were lodge members than tthe whp weren't,
The increase in membership of the Florida missions was largely the
resulttof adylt instruction classes, At Bay Pines, after eight years, out
of 60 families only 6 were of Wisconsin Synod background Most of the growth -
was ei@her,tbrough adult confirmation or profession of faith, According to

Pastor Kalser, this worked out well, Seven out of the nine men on the church

councii at one ‘time were adult confirmands, This kept the spirit alive within
the congregation,

&; The four congregations made qse'of the lay visitor program in making
calls on prospective members, Also, the Florida missionaries would meet as
often as possible to canvass thelr fields and to survey ﬁaw fields, They
would conduct their own oonferences.lBNo doubt the four men énjoyéd getting
together, since they were more than a thousand mileskfrom their fellow

Wisconsin Synod pastors in the Midwest,

13 wprom Florida," The Northwestern Lutheran, October 11, 1959, p, 333,
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